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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Good morning. I

          3  apologize for being late. As you know, there is

          4  another hearing across the hall, and there are

          5  budget negotiations going on, so we usually start

          6  very punctually, for those of you who frequent these

          7  meetings, and I do apologize for starting 15 minutes

          8  late, but we will make up the time.

          9                 Good morning, and welcome to this

         10  hearing of the Committee on Governmental Operations.

         11  I am Simcha Chair -- I am Simcha Felder. It's after

         12  a night of graduations. I'm not talking about other

         13  graduations, I'm talking my childrens. Thank God

         14  we're celebrating four graduations this season. My

         15  son, my daughter, who is in college. I'm just

         16  getting off on a tangent for the reporters. Our

         17  22-year-old daughter graduated her special ed

         18  program. Thank you. And our son, high school, and my

         19  13-year-old graduated elementary school and my

         20  six-year-old graduated from pre-school,

         21  kindergarten. And it cost me a lot of money last

         22  night. If there are any more, you'll have to ask my

         23  wife. I don't know anything about it.

         24                 All right. Good morning, and welcome

         25  to the hearing of the Committee of Government
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          2  Operations. I am Simcha Felder, Chair of the

          3  Committee, and I am joined by my colleagues,

          4  Councilman Peter Vallone, Jr., Councilman Vincent

          5  Ignizio, Council Member Inez Dickens, and Council

          6  Member Erik Dilan. Thank you very much for being

          7  here during this busy season.

          8                 I would also like to acknowledge the

          9  Committee staff that has diligently prepared for

         10  today's hearing. To my left is DeNora Johnson, the

         11  Counsel to the Committee on Government Operations.

         12  Israel Rodriguez, the Policy Analyst to the

         13  Committee, and my Legislative Aide, Michael

         14  Cassatano. I'm delighted that as a result of the

         15  significance of this legislation we have the

         16  distinct honor of having the Speaker's Deputy Chief

         17  of Staff, Maura Keaney, sitting here right to my

         18  right this morning. And it is indeed an honor, a

         19  great honor.

         20                 And last two summers interns with the

         21  Government Affairs Division, Corinne Rivers. Where

         22  is Corrine? When she comes back, we must embarrass

         23  her, make sure. And Aaron Walker, he is also making

         24  copies. Okay, remind me.

         25                 Today the Committee will consider
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          2  Intro. 586, the Campaign Finance Reform Legislation

          3  introduced by the Speaker and the Mayor. As I've

          4  indicated during the press conference for this bill,

          5  the Speaker and the Mayor have shown tremendous

          6  leadership in crafting campaign finance reform

          7  legislation that is practical and effective. The

          8  bill would bring further transparency to the program

          9  without erecting ominous barriers to entry to

         10  citizens who want to run for office.

         11                 The Mayor, the Speaker and their

         12  staff should be commended for their work. Over the

         13  past six months, six plus months, to draft such a

         14  comprehensive set of Campaign Finance Reforms.

         15  Specifically, I'd like to thank, if not thank again,

         16  Maura Keaney, who is here, Rob Newman and James

         17  Caras. The attorneys who are not here right now. And

         18  DeNora Johnson, from the Speaker's staff, for their

         19  diligence and meeting with all stakeholders,

         20  including the Board, Administration, Council

         21  members, other elected officials, lawyers,

         22  collection lawyers, good government groups, to

         23  obtain their feedback and input on these proposals

         24  with the intent of introducing and ultimately

         25  passing legislation that truly encourages candidates
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          2  to run for elected office, and to participate in the

          3  program.

          4                 I'm going off on a tangent for a

          5  moment. I just want to say, to my recollection,

          6  first of all we've been joined by Councilman

          7  Addabbo, who is here, and Councilman Recchia, who

          8  has joined us, as well. I just want to say, it is my

          9  recollection, at least as long as I have been in

         10  office, I don't think that there has been more time

         11  spent by the Speaker's staff, working with each

         12  individual member, you know, discussing the issues

         13  and working together with the Administration. I may

         14  have a bias because this is my Committee, but I

         15  believe what I said is true. The only thing that I

         16  can think of that more time is spent of, maybe in a

         17  concentrated form, is the budget. But I don't think

         18  there has been, or maybe the Waste Management Plan

         19  maybe had, you know, maybe a good competition. But I

         20  can't think certainly of many more issues that have

         21  had more time invested, and rightfully so, to make

         22  sure that everyone involved gets a chance to say

         23  what they have to say and have an impact on this

         24  legislation. So, it is really very, very, it just

         25  feels great to be a part of this.
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          2                 New York City Campaign Finance Reform

          3  Program was established, established approximately

          4  20 years ago, to increase participation in the

          5  electoral process, regardless of access to wealth

          6  and to reduce undue influence by small

          7  concentrations of large contributions and special

          8  interests.

          9                 Since the program's inception, it has

         10  proven to be a successful Campaign Finance Program,

         11  and more importantly, a model for the nation. I

         12  might say, from my own experience, I have

         13  participated once and I didn't participate another

         14  time. So, I think that this is true. Despite my not

         15  participating one time, I think it is true that it's

         16  a wonderful piece of legislation.

         17                 The Council has consistently worked

         18  to address issues raised with the program and ensure

         19  that it continues to keep the reputation as a model

         20  campaign financing system for the nation and the

         21  bill that the Committee is considering today

         22  continues that tradition.

         23                 Briefly the bill would amend and add

         24  certain sections to the Charter, the City's Code:

         25                 1) To establish clear, hard deadlines

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  for the completion of the Board audits, and fair

          3  procedures for candidates to challenge Board

          4  determinations.

          5                 2) Reduce the contribution limits for

          6  persons doing business with the City.

          7                 3) Ban contributions from business

          8  entities, such as limited liability companies and

          9  partnerships.

         10                 4) Rein in matching funds and

         11  non-competitive elections; and

         12                 5) Encourage smaller contributions

         13  and provide a greater voice to average New Yorkers

         14  by implementing a six to one public matching fund

         15  ratio for contributions up to $175.

         16                 Just to note, that means the 250 is

         17  out. Some people have asked. So for those of you

         18  that are actually listening to what I'm saying, even

         19  though it's from prepared remarks before a hearing,

         20  which most people don't listen to. That is an

         21  important point. The 175 eliminates the 250.

         22                 Before I call the first witness from

         23  the Administration, as was mentioned at previous

         24  hearings, I know that the issue of campaign finance

         25  is an issue of great importance to all Council
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          2  members, and all of the City's elected officials and

          3  all of you, obviously by the turnout that's here.

          4                 If there are any chairs that are

          5  available, are there any chairs, you may want to sit

          6  down. Sergeant-At-Arms, can we bring in more chairs,

          7  because we don't want people to be upset with this

          8  legislation because they didn't have a seat. Thank

          9  you very much.

         10                 If there is anyone that wants to

         11  testify at today's hearings, it is my policy in this

         12  Committee, and I hope that other of my colleagues

         13  will follow suit. That you must sign up with the

         14  Sergeant-At-Arms within the next 15 minutes,

         15  otherwise, you will not be permitted to testify. So,

         16  if you don't sign up within the next 15 minutes, it

         17  means you're not interested or you didn't come on

         18  time. Unless you previously expressed to the

         19  Committee staff that you were going to be late.

         20                 Before I introduce Anthony Crowell

         21  from the Administration to come forward with his

         22  testimony, I just want to highlight one other item

         23  that was not mentioned in the past, that I think I

         24  believe is very important, not only because it was

         25  my idea, but because I think it is important. The
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          2  fact that the Campaign Finance Board together with

          3  the Administration and the City Council have decided

          4  to implement stricter auditing procedures by

          5  applying what we commonly known as GAGAs, which is

          6  Government Accepted Generally Auditing principles,

          7  so that the audits that will be done will follow

          8  what audit procedures normally take place, and

          9  Security Exchange Commission, Internal Revenue

         10  Service, and certain portions, and that I think

         11  should be consistent with any government agency

         12  that's doing audits, but certainly one that is

         13  doling out public money, so I want to commend

         14  everyone for that as well.

         15                 With that, I ask you, Mr. Crowell, to

         16  start your testimony.

         17                 MR. CROWELL: Good morning, Chairman

         18  Felder and members of the Government Operations

         19  Committee. My name is Anthony Crowell, and I'm

         20  Counselor to Mayor Michael Bloomberg. I thank you

         21  for the opportunity to testify today on Intro. 586,

         22  a bill to limit so-called pay-to-play contributions

         23  to candidates for municipal elected office from

         24  those doing business with the City.

         25                 With me today are Frank Barry, Policy
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          2  Advisor in the Mayor's Office, and Marla Simpson,

          3  Director of the Mayor's Office of Contract Services.

          4                 Indeed, the Administration strongly

          5  supports this bill which is the culmination of nine

          6  years of complex discussions on this topic by City

          7  Government, beginning with the approval of a 1998

          8  Charter referendum, which called for disclosure and

          9  regulation of campaign contributions from those who

         10  do business with the City.

         11                 Today's partnership between the

         12  Administration and Council on this bill will result

         13  in a cutting-edge municipal reform, building on the

         14  success of our partnership last year, when we

         15  reformed the City's lobbying law, including

         16  exempting campaign contributions by lobbyists from

         17  receiving matching funds.

         18                 In drafting the provisions of this

         19  bill, the Mayor's and Council's staffs have

         20  collaborated closely with the Law Department, the

         21  Campaign Finance Board, and the City's good

         22  government groups, to develop what we believe

         23  represents the country's strongest and most vigorous

         24  Campaign Finance Law. The primary reason that the

         25  Campaign Finance Program was adopted 19 years ago
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          2  was to reduce corruption and diminish the influence

          3  that special interests hold over candidates and

          4  elected officials who seek contributions from them.

          5  Yet, as the approval of the 1998 Charter Revision

          6  indicated, the City's electorate supports further

          7  restrictions on the various types of campaign

          8  contributions that created a conflict of interest,

          9  or at least the appearance thereof. This bill

         10  addresses those issues and creates a more

         11  transparent, fair and open campaign finance system.

         12  And while we have tried to address as many of these

         13  issues as possible, we do recognize that this

         14  program will further evolve, and thus as the Mayor

         15  stated repeatedly through this process, we cannot

         16  let the perfect be the enemy of the good.

         17                 Up front, I would like to state that

         18  in drafting this bill, we have worked to ensure that

         19  it will withstand any legal challenge. Our proposal

         20  builds on existing campaign finance legislation, and

         21  aims specifically to limit the amount of money that

         22  can be contributed by people who do business with

         23  the City. It is a bill to combat "pay-to-play" and

         24  improve public confidence that the government's

         25  decisions are made wholly on the merits and not
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          2  political favoritism. As the Law Department has

          3  stated publicly, the bill was carefully drafted in

          4  light of applicable Supreme Court precedent, and we

          5  are confident it is constitutional. To be clear, and

          6  to address questions raised about this bill since

          7  last Tuesday's announcement, our proposal is very

          8  different from the Vermont law that was struck down

          9  by the U.S. Supreme Court last year. That law set

         10  low, across-the-board contribution limits and

         11  attempted to restrict overall candidate spending.

         12  Our bill, focused on pay-to-play, is clearly

         13  different and in no way imposes any such new

         14  expenditure limits.

         15                 Now let me turn to one of the main

         16  functions of this bill, the Doing Business

         17  Contribution Limitations. The new law will

         18  significantly limit donations from those who do

         19  business with New York City, including individuals

         20  and entities with contracts, concessions and

         21  franchises or grants valued at or greater than

         22  $100,000, including Land Use applicants, as well as

         23  parties to discretionary economic development

         24  agreements, and private equity and other investment

         25  firms. The existing ban on corporate contributions
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          2  will be widened to include Limited Liability

          3  Companies, known as LLCs, Limited Liability

          4  Partnerships, LLPs, and other forms of

          5  non-incorporated businesses.

          6                 These limitations would also apply

          7  generally to contributions made to transition and

          8  inaugural entities. This bill also introduces strict

          9  contribution caps on these individuals doing

         10  business with the City: $250 for Council races, $320

         11  for borough-wide races and $400 for City-wide races,

         12  and none of these contributions will be eligible for

         13  matching funds. This will ensure that taxpayer money

         14  is not used to supplement an entity or individual

         15  attempting to influence government decision-making

         16  through their campaign contributions.

         17                 Database Development. In order to

         18  implement the "doing business" restrictions, the

         19  development of a dynamic doing business database to

         20  serve as a ready check on campaign contributors is

         21  at the crux of an effective program aimed at

         22  deterring pay-to-play. To implement today's reforms,

         23  such a database will be created jointly by the

         24  Mayor's Office of Contract Services and the

         25  Department of Information Technology and
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          2  Telecommunications, and made accessible to the

          3  Campaign Finance Board and the public, to identify

          4  all of those that fall under the definition of doing

          5  business. Because of the tight time frames involved

          6  in implementing this system, Ms. Simpson and her

          7  staff, along with DOITT, have already begun

          8  discussions about developing the database when the

          9  bill is passed.

         10                 I'd also like to address some other

         11  reforms that this bill covers. In addition to

         12  addressing pay-to-play contributions, the Mayor and

         13  Council also took the opportunity to introduce other

         14  reforms in this bill designed to open up

         15  participation in the electoral process and to

         16  enhance the efficiency of the campaign finance

         17  system, including proposing changes to the structure

         18  of the CFB matching funds program, addressing the

         19  longstanding problems with non-competitive

         20  elections, and proposing internal reforms at the CFB

         21  concerning audits and adjudications.

         22                 First, changes to matching funds.

         23  Contributions by ordinary citizens, who often give

         24  smaller campaign donations, will be given much more

         25  weight now with an increase in matching funds from
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          2  4-1 to 6-1 for the first $175 donated to a campaign.

          3  Thus, for someone who wanted to give $175

          4  contribution, instead of it being matched to the 4-1

          5  rate for a total contribution value of $875, the

          6  contribution would now be worth $1,225. This amount

          7  is practically the same amount a candidate can now

          8  raise under the current matching formula.

          9                 Accordingly, this change empowers

         10  citizens and will aid many candidates in being more

         11  competitive, because these lower value contributions

         12  will now be more meaningful to the overall impact

         13  individuals can have on a candidate's race.

         14                 Also, this bill will broaden the

         15  definition of an intermediary, also known as a

         16  bundler, to include anyone who solicits a

         17  contribution for a campaign. Under the current

         18  system, only those from outside of a candidate's

         19  campaign who receives and delivers contributions on

         20  behalf of the campaign are considered

         21  intermediaries.

         22                 This proposed amendment would now

         23  require that those who solicit contributions will

         24  also be listed as intermediaries, which will ensure

         25  that campaigns disclose those who act as such,

                                                            18

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  regardless of whether such agents personally deliver

          3  the checks. This reform will close the loophole in

          4  the current disclosure process and allow the public

          5  to see the variety of relationships between

          6  intermediaries and candidates.

          7                 Also, the bill addresses reining in

          8  matching funds for non-competitive elections.

          9  Non-competitive elections in which candidates

         10  running against nominal opposition receive public

         11  matching funds that are often cited as an example of

         12  wasteful spending. Currently, in such instances

         13  where their opponent has spent less than 20 percent

         14  of the expenditure limit, a candidate only has to

         15  submit a statement of need with no other

         16  documentation to receive full public financing.

         17                 The new proposal establishes clear

         18  criteria that must be met in order for a race to be

         19  deemed competitive. Those would include receiving

         20  significant endorsements, or having name recognition

         21  documented from previous races or significant media

         22  exposure. A candidate would need to prove that his

         23  or her opponent meets one of these criteria to

         24  qualify the race as competitive, and to merit the

         25  release of public matching funds. The proposal also
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          2  eliminates the automatic trigger for public funds

          3  that results when a candidate's opponent receives

          4  public funds.

          5                 The bill also makes amendments to the

          6  definitions of what campaign funds can and cannot be

          7  used for. By outlining with clarity what is not

          8  acceptable, any gray area that has existed will be

          9  eliminated, and donors can be assured that all their

         10  contributions will be spent appropriately without

         11  benefitting the candidate personally.

         12                 And finally, I'd like to note some

         13  improvements that the bill aims to make in terms of

         14  the Campaign Finance Board's internal operations.

         15                 The bill also takes these steps to

         16  improve CFB's auditing procedures, making them more

         17  efficient and comprehensive and to bolster the

         18  fairness of the adjudicative process by establishing

         19  new procedures.

         20                 The Administration and the Speaker

         21  have taken seriously concerns from candidates about

         22  the auditing and adjudicative procedures of the CFB,

         23  and we believe the changes will make the system more

         24  efficient and fair.

         25                 Indeed, the Campaign Finance Program,
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          2  like many other reform initiatives, will always be a

          3  work-in-progress. However, the proposed bill

          4  represents a new era in transparency and openness

          5  that enhances New York City's position as the

          6  vanguard of elections and government reform.

          7                 The Mayor is pleased to stand

          8  shoulder to shoulder with Speaker Quinn, Chairman

          9  Felder, and the rest of the City Council in enacting

         10  and implementing this important legislation.

         11                 Thank you, and we would be happy to

         12  answer any questions you may have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         14  much for your testimony. Thank you very much. And I

         15  just wanted to clarify on page four, this has

         16  nothing to do with my being the only CPA in the

         17  Council, but for people who are reading the

         18  testimony, I just wanted to clarify, is that on the

         19  top of page four, you said the 4-1 rate, instead of

         20  it being matched 4-1, for total contribution value

         21  of 875, I don't think that that's correct.

         22                 In other words, under the old system,

         23  someone who wanted to give $175 contribution,

         24  instead of it being matched at 4-1 -- he is right on

         25  that, that's setting me up. But the next thing was
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          2  my own observation, the 1,225. I just want to make

          3  sure that people, I should say, understand that this

          4  is the total including the basic contribution. In

          5  other words, if somebody gives $175 and it is

          6  matched six times, you add the six times, plus the

          7  base contribution, to get the figure. So, it wasn't

          8  a mistake. I apologize. It's not the first time

          9  they're out to get me.

         10                 In any case, Councilman Recchia,

         11  please.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes. Good

         13  morning. I have some questions regarding the bill.

         14                 First, in regards to not having a

         15  competitive race, what does it mean, you know,

         16  significant media exposure, or significant

         17  endorsements? Because right now you feel you do have

         18  a competitive race, you fill out a letter and you

         19  get your matching funds. Will you no longer have

         20  that process?

         21                 MR. CROWELL: That process is being

         22  modified and strengthened. And, so, under the bill,

         23  I believe significant media exposure is defined as

         24  12 appearances in the media, over the course of the

         25  election, and so it would change the current process
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          2  where right now you merely need to submit a

          3  statement of need and you get all of your funds.

          4  Through this process you would need to effectively

          5  provide documentation, showing how you meet one of

          6  these criteria, in this case the media appearances,

          7  and you would submit that to the CFB who would

          8  verify its accuracy in effect that you do in effect

          9  meet one of these categories.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Because if

         11  you have a candidate that goes out ringing doorbells

         12  and doing other, you know, canvasing and everything,

         13  that's, you know -- who is the Campaign Finance

         14  Board to determine if we have a significant race or

         15  not? And you know, you're sitting here in Manhattan,

         16  you're not in my district, to know if I have a

         17  serious race or not, and I could go there and tell

         18  you I have a serious race, just because there's not

         19  articles or there's not, you know, recognition. I

         20  mean, I have a problem with this part of it.

         21                 MR. CROWELL: I think you might agree,

         22  Councilman, that in the past we've had issues with

         23  public funds going to races where there did not, in

         24  fact, exist serious competition. And, so, what we've

         25  been trying to do in working with the Council, is to
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          2  structure criteria that is fair, but also flexible

          3  enough that captures the different types of

          4  categories that would effectively show that you have

          5  some level of -- you know, that you're organized and

          6  that you have some level of a serious campaign.

          7                 And, so, the different categories are

          8  endorsements, they're media appearances, and in

          9  addition to that there is, of course, the

         10  fundraising trigger.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Let me tell

         12  you about a situation that takes place and has

         13  happened, is that a candidate applies for matching

         14  funds, the candidate does not do anything until two

         15  weeks before the election, they submit all their

         16  money and you get bombarded and he comes strong.

         17  Here you think you don't have a race, all right?

         18  Now, you're fighting with Campaign Finance Board two

         19  weeks before to get your money and you have an

         20  issue. Because this has happened. I mean, you know,

         21  this has taken place.

         22                 MR. BARRY: Well, I don't know the

         23  specific instance you're referring to, but we've

         24  looked back at the last several election cycles, and

         25  we have, I don't think, come up with a single real
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          2  instance where a candidate has not hit, you know,

          3  the current threshold of 20 percent.

          4                 Right now, if your opponent raises 20

          5  percent of the spending limit, that effectively

          6  allows you to collect full public financing. But if

          7  they have raised less than 20 percent of the

          8  spending limit, then you are only allowed to get 20

          9  percent of your public funds. And you know, finding

         10  examples where someone has raised that little money

         11  and still runs a very serious campaign are few and

         12  far between, whereas there are many examples that we

         13  can find where candidates received the full amount

         14  of public financing, but they didn't actually face a

         15  serious opponent.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: But you don't

         17  know that until after the election, and to put an

         18  elected official in jeopardy just because you don't

         19  think it's a serious race, I think that's extremely,

         20  extremely prejudicial, I think the Campaign Finance

         21  Board is deciding on who is going to be getting

         22  money, who is going to get elected. And I think most

         23  of all, what you really need to do here, which is

         24  nowhere in this bill, is to give a candidate who

         25  wants to run for office, saying if you want matching
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          2  funds, you have to have all your money in by a month

          3  before the election, not a week before the election

          4  or four days before the election, so they could

          5  bombard you. That's what has happened to me, twice.

          6  And every time I complained about it, no one did

          7  anything about it. And you want to talk about races?

          8  Many times, in two of my races, they said I don't

          9  have a serious opponent. All right? Yet, I had to

         10  fight to get it, and before you know it, the

         11  candidate was out there, they didn't do anything

         12  until two weeks before the election. I think

         13  somewhere in the bill there should be a rule that

         14  says if you want matching funds, you have to have

         15  all your matching funds in a month before the

         16  election. Why give someone a week before to get all

         17  his matching funds in and get money?

         18                 MR. BARRY: Well, that's an issue we

         19  could certainly look at. I think that cuts both

         20  ways, though, in that you would be preventing likely

         21  challengers who have been struggling to raise money

         22  and who have raised the money --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: It's either

         24  that or --

         25                 MR. BARRY: -- Much needed funds
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          2  before an election. So, it does cut both ways. But

          3  that is a separate issue from the issue that we're

          4  trying to get at, which is preventing the waste and

          5  abuse of public funds in non-competitive races. And

          6  I don't want to comment specifically on your races,

          7  because I know that you have had competitive races

          8  in the past.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Can I please

         10  interrupt both of you?

         11                 I just want to make sure it's okay.

         12  Can I interrupt both of you for a moment, please?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I'd like to ask

         15  Maura Keaney, the Speaker's Chief of Staff, to

         16  clarify this issue, which may help.

         17                 MS. KEANEY: Since my boss, the actual

         18  Chief of Staff, is sitting to my left, I do want to

         19  clarify that I'm Deputy Chief of Staff.

         20                 I think there is two sort of pieces

         21  in the legislation that would address some of the

         22  concerns that Council Member Recchia is raising. One

         23  is on the question of how a competitive race is

         24  determined, in fact, the CFB will not be given

         25  discretion in determining whether a race is
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          2  competitive or not. And when they testify I'm sure

          3  they can address this, but Board staff and Board

          4  members felt strongly that they should not be in the

          5  position of making that decision because sitting in

          6  their office in Lower Manhattan, they might not know

          7  what was happening in Coney Island or in the Bronx

          8  or in any number of competitive races around the

          9  City.

         10                 Secondly, on the question of when a

         11  final determination is made on matching funds, we

         12  heard from a number of Council members and other

         13  candidates who had participated in the system about

         14  a concern, and as I think Frank said, it can cut

         15  both ways about making sure there is clarity for

         16  candidates, whether or not they'll get matching

         17  funds, and frankly, for their opponents, whether or

         18  not they'll be facing someone that has that matching

         19  funds to finance them.

         20                 So, the legislation puts in an

         21  additional final payment date, probably about three

         22  weeks before the election, at which time if the

         23  candidate is denied public matching funds, they can

         24  use that as a final determination and go to court,

         25  and it also gives a greater degree of clarity to
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          2  their opponent about whether they would be facing

          3  someone that is well funded and has those matching

          4  funds or not.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Councilman

          6  Recchia, it's back to you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I'll hold my

          8  questions. I'll give someone else a chance.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay, thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 I want to recognize Council Member

         12  Lappin and ask Council Member Dickens, who has a

         13  question.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         15  much, Mr. Chair.

         16                 Good morning. What exceptions are

         17  there to doing business with the City, such as a

         18  one- to three-family homeowner, or Section 8

         19  contract holder of a multiple dwelling, such as

         20  J-51, Land Use items, other Land Use items that are

         21  small?

         22                 MR. CROWELL: The list isn't

         23  enumerated in the bill, but what you've identified

         24  would be the exceptions. And as we are looking at

         25  how to implement this, we're very cognizant of the

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  variety of programs and where things would fall,

          3  given the requirements that we've put into the bill.

          4                 So, things like that, a Land Use

          5  applicant, for instance, looking for something to do

          6  with a single-family or a one- to three-family home,

          7  that would not be subject to "doing business"

          8  restrictions, we're obviously trying to capture our

          9  big developers, with significant Land Use

         10  determinations that need to be made in terms of

         11  those developments.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: So, is it my

         13  understanding that if you have a multiple dwelling,

         14  and you have Section 8 contracts that permits

         15  affordable housing, which is what the City and our

         16  Mayor encourages, then there would be a cap of

         17  100,000, or that's an exemption? I want to be clear

         18  so I understand.

         19                 MR. CROWELL: I think those would be

         20  subject to -- no, those would be exempt from the

         21  bill.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Without a

         23  cap; is that my understanding of your testimony?

         24                 MR. CROWELL: Correct. Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: And what
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          2  about other applications, such as J-51?

          3                 MR. CROWELL: No, those are exempt as

          4  well. So, it would be J-51 and just broad categories

          5  of the affordable housing program, Section HA 51.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Mr. Crowell, can

          8  you bring the mike closer to your mouth? We want to

          9  hear you clearly.

         10                 MR. CROWELL: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Ignizio.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER IGNIZIO: Thank you

         14  very much. Thank you, all. I have less of a

         15  question, if you will, and more of a statement both

         16  for the Committee that I would like to encourage,

         17  and that is the inclusion of all interest groups in

         18  this City, that being unions. I don't question

         19  anyone's intention of this bill, not the

         20  Administration, not the Speaker, and not the

         21  interest groups that are involved. But I do question

         22  the precedent we're setting. The precedent we're

         23  setting is for one who wishes to petition their

         24  government, a form of running for office, we are

         25  separating one's speech from one others. If I decide
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          2  I want to be, or Joe from Astoria, Queens, wants to

          3  be -- pardon me, Peter. Joe, I said. From Astoria,

          4  Queens, wants to be Mr. Anti-union, and he wants to

          5  run because he believes, I don't agree, but he

          6  believes that unions are hurting the City of New

          7  York, and he wants to run as that candidate. Well,

          8  Sally, who is also running in Astoria, she is

          9  running as the union-backed candidate. My

         10  understanding, and as the union exclusion here,

         11  government, for the first time that I know, is

         12  taking a situation saying that one's voice is not

         13  equal to the other's voice in terms of campaign

         14  contributions from those entities, and I think it's

         15  fundamentally unjust.

         16                 I read the Mayor's reports, I read

         17  people's comments about how the good is not the

         18  enemy with the perfect -- I appreciate those

         19  comments, but when you're dealing with something as

         20  fundamental as elections, and as fundamental as

         21  someone's right to participate, petition their

         22  government as they see fit, we ought not put

         23  confines on speech. I believe that's what we're

         24  doing here. You may differ. I appreciate the

         25  differences, and I would hope that the Governmental
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          2  Operations Committee would consider forwarding an

          3  amendment to include all interest groups in this

          4  City and to have the establishment of this bill

          5  really work on all facets of people who are trying

          6  to petition their government and make sure their

          7  petitioning is done on an equal basis, and not one

          8  speech being squelched at the expense of another.

          9  So, I recognize that it's a lofty goal I'm trying to

         10  achieve, and I recognize from media reports that it

         11  is a non-starter, is one of the quotes I read, but,

         12  you know, when you're dealing with something as

         13  fundamental as elections and people who seek to

         14  petition their government, a form of elected

         15  offices, I think it's an extremely serious omission,

         16  and it ought be revisited. So, thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you,

         18  Council Member.

         19                 We've been joined by the two

         20  attorneys who weren't here earlier who worked on

         21  this diligently, Robert Newman, and James Caras, who

         22  are standing in the corner to the left. Over there.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 Council Member Addabbo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chairman. Let me thank your staff, and obviously

          3  the attorneys who worked on this bill and the

          4  countless hours of time put into it and the efforts

          5  of the Administration for this encompassing bill. As

          6  with any bill that we speak about, especially this

          7  one, enforcement, or implementation becomes an

          8  issue. In speaking to my colleagues, a lot of the

          9  concerns you discuss is is this bill able to be

         10  implemented? Are you, and this is a question I hope

         11  I have the opportunity to ask the Campaign Finance

         12  Board as well, but now with the Administration here,

         13  are you confident that this bill can be implemented

         14  to its full capacity, that we should not have any

         15  problems with the terms of the bill as we go forward

         16  in its implementation and enforcement? Do we have

         17  enough staffing? Is it well funded?

         18                 MR. CROWELL: Well, I'll speak

         19  generally to the issue, and then I'll allow Marla

         20  Simpson, to my right, to speak more specifically as

         21  to how her office, which is specifically charged

         22  with database development, plans to undertake this

         23  work.

         24                 Certainly we are making resources

         25  fully available to ensure that the proper database
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          2  development can take place. Ms. Simpson and her

          3  staff, along with Department of Information,

          4  Technology and Telecommunications, and in addition

          5  in consultation with Council staff and agency staff,

          6  we're doing a full assessment of exactly all of the

          7  pieces that need to be put in place, where they are

          8  right now, where new pieces need to be developed, in

          9  order to create a dynamic database, in order to

         10  implement the program. So, the information is

         11  available to ensure that those who do do business

         12  with the City and are covered by the limitations in

         13  the bill are readily identifiable for all the

         14  appropriate parties, CFB and the public, and that

         15  they're delivered in a timely manner and updated

         16  once the program is implemented to ensure that the

         17  administration of matching funds and financing in

         18  general is done correctly.

         19                 Marla.

         20                 MS. SIMPSON: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member, a substantial portion

         22  of the "doing business" data exists in the City's

         23  records already because of the existence of the

         24  Vendex statute and the Vendex process. So, for

         25  example, all of the Mayoral agencies, and including
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          2  several of the agencies that are not otherwise

          3  governed by the Procurement Policy Board rules, such

          4  as the Department of Education, or NYCHA, all of

          5  these agencies routinely collect information on, for

          6  example, the top officers of each entity that does

          7  business with the City as a contract or concession,

          8  so the initial task will be to simply create a

          9  comprehensive database that includes all of the

         10  agencies in one place, as opposed to scattered

         11  around as they are now.

         12                 That is a task that is significant

         13  but is clearly achievable within the time frames

         14  that we're talking about, and we've already begun

         15  speaking with both the procurement and technology

         16  staffs of those agencies so that we'll be ready for

         17  that task.

         18                 The second part of database

         19  development, is that we will be collecting really

         20  for the first time comprehensive data at the

         21  proposal process. As you know, the bill does not

         22  cover competitive sealed bids, which is a

         23  significant part of the volume, but it does cover

         24  RFPs or other types of discretionary selection

         25  processes. Normally the Vendex type of disclosure
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          2  doesn't happen at the proposal stage so we only have

          3  that data for winners, not for the losers. We will

          4  be developing a process through the use of language

          5  in our RFPs that will allow us to collect

          6  information on the proposers. That is the data that

          7  Mr. Crowell referred to as being a dynamic creation

          8  of a database, because we will be collecting that

          9  information prospectively. We won't have that

         10  information obviously on contracts that are already

         11  in place. We will only have that as we solicit new

         12  contracts.

         13                 And then, lastly, the third category

         14  is senior managers, within the different vendors

         15  that we do business with. Again, that's not data

         16  that is typically collected in Vendex. That's new

         17  data that we'll have to develop, and so we'll be

         18  creating data collection for that process as well,

         19  and we will be doing that prospectively as we move

         20  forward.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: This is a

         22  follow-up question, and I guess a point of

         23  clarification. Presupposing we vote on it here, it's

         24  approved, goes to the Council, approved; upon the

         25  Mayor's signature, when does this intro or the local
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          2  law, when would it be effective?

          3                 MR. CROWELL: Well, there are varying

          4  implementation dates, but for instance, in terms of

          5  the "doing business" database and it's availability

          6  to apply to the 2009 election, the first

          7  implementation date would be January 1st, roughly

          8  January 1st, 2008.

          9                 MS. SIMPSON: Roughly. The law would

         10  have to be signed by the Mayor and then published,

         11  them there's an effective date, and then we measure

         12  six months from that date, and that's the point by

         13  which we would aim to have the first part of the

         14  "doing business" database certified.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Again, with

         16  the work that needs to be done with the database, I

         17  understand the bill would take effect, January 1st,

         18  2008 and elections after that.

         19                 MR. CROWELL: Assuming, hypothetically

         20  speaking, if you did something by July or whatever,

         21  it's six months from that date. But say you did

         22  something by July, then it would be January. So,

         23  it's six months. It's a six-month window.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: So there is a

         25  period of time in order for you to get the database
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          2  all --

          3                 MR. CROWELL: Sure. And that's why

          4  we're taking steps right now.

          5                 MS. SIMPSON: And it rolls out in

          6  categories. Other parts of the database, for

          7  example, the Land Use part of the database would

          8  roll out later, I think the time frame there is 18

          9  months. It's set out by category in terms of how the

         10  City would accumulate the data presented in a way

         11  that the CFB could evaluate and then there would be

         12  a certification that the database was ready.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you

         14  very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Council Member

         16  Vallone.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Let me first

         18  clarify, it was Joe from Queens. Joe from Astoria.

         19  Joe from Astoria.

         20                 Talking about what Domenic Recchia

         21  said, I think you're both right. I think you made it

         22  abundantly clear that there are elected officials

         23  who abuse the system and took money in joke races

         24  and took taxpayer money that they should never have

         25  received. And that needs to be stopped. And I also
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          2  think Domenic Recchia is right where we know a lot

          3  better than the Campaign Finance Board knows, as to

          4  whether or not it's going to be a competitive race

          5  or not. So, here's my potential solution, I

          6  discussed this with Council Member staff. If an

          7  elected official, a Council Member or whatever,

          8  thinks that they are truly in a competitive race,

          9  despite what the Campaign Finance Board says, and

         10  takes the taxpayer money, and then winds up with

         11  over a certain percentage of the vote, say 80

         12  percent, then that money would be denied them in the

         13  future. Not that they would have to pay it back,

         14  because it could have been just a miscalculation,

         15  and I'm not sure that's even possible. But when they

         16  run again, that would be taxpayer money that would

         17  be denied them in the future, if they decided to

         18  take it in that sham of a race that they took it in.

         19  I don't know, do you have any opinion on that?

         20                 MR. BARRY: Well, it's an interesting

         21  idea. I think one of the immediate problems that

         22  jump up is what if that candidate doesn't run again,

         23  and then there is no consequences for having taken

         24  money in a sham race?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That's true.
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          2  I mean, obviously, as many said, "perfect can't be

          3  the enemy of the good," and you can't foresee that,

          4  but I don't think anybody knows for sure whether

          5  they'll be running again, and I think it would be a

          6  huge deterrent on someone taking taxpayer money, if

          7  they truly did not believe they were going to be in

          8  a competitive race. So, I don't think anybody knows

          9  what's going to happen down the road, but that is

         10  something I don't think anybody could do anything

         11  about. Any other thoughts on that?

         12                 MR. BARRY: I think it's an

         13  interesting idea and we should consider it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Let me ask

         15  you, I have so many questions on this, but I'm not

         16  going to be going into them today, because my staff

         17  has been, Council staff has been extremely helpful,

         18  and I know that you will discuss this with me at any

         19  time, but I do want to place on the record your

         20  position on whether or not the CFB had legal

         21  authority to act in this area had we not?

         22                 MR. CROWELL: Whether the CFB had

         23  legal authority to regulate doing business? Well, as

         24  someone who has worked at numerous Charter Revision

         25  Commissions and was a City Attorney in the legal
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          2  Counsel Division of the Law Department, it has been

          3  the City's position, that yes, indeed, the CFB did

          4  have the authority to regulate in this area, and it

          5  was given express grant of authority by the Charter

          6  Revision of 1998.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I that's an

          8  important point, and I think our Council agrees with

          9  that, and clearly there are improvements that I

         10  think can be made, but people need to realize that

         11  we are the legislative body and it's our duty to

         12  act, especially when we're informed that there is

         13  going to be action, if we didn't. And I think this

         14  is the way to get it done for the legislative

         15  process, as opposed to through mandates by an

         16  agency. So, as good as that agency usually is, this

         17  is just the way that it should be done in a

         18  democracy. So, I don't think that's a point that's

         19  been made. I just wanted to get your opinion on

         20  that. So, thank you. I'll ask you the other

         21  questions down the road.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: We've been joined

         24  by Council Member Larry Seabrook, and Council Member

         25  Lappin has a question.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman.

          4                 I want to start by saying I'm proud

          5  to be a co-sponsor of this bill, and I know a lot of

          6  work on both the Administration's and the Council

          7  side went into drafting this document that's before

          8  us today.

          9                 I wanted to ask a specific question

         10  about the audit process, something that is more

         11  nitty-gritty, but I think important, and I want to

         12  confirm that it's included in here. Will campaigns

         13  be able to electronically submit copies of receipts

         14  and expenditures and cancelled checks?

         15                 MR. CROWELL: Yes, I don't think

         16  that's expressly outlined in the bill, but I think

         17  that's probably a question that is best for the

         18  Campaign Finance Board who is going to be testifying

         19  here as well, because how they plan to implement the

         20  provisions that are in the bill I think would speak

         21  exactly to that issue, and it's a very important and

         22  good question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay, thanks.

         24                 I may not be able to be here when the

         25  Campaign Finance Board testifies, so, if you would
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          2  be willing to ask that question, I would appreciate

          3  that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: That's addressed

          5  in the bill. I think it's addressed in the bill.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: And I think that

          8  what they said was right. Mr. Crowell, I have

          9  confidence, was correct on this response.

         10                 So, I'm not going to ask them again,

         11  even though you asked me, okay?

         12                 MR. BARRY: It gives the CFE the

         13  authority to figure out a way to do it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         15  much for raising it.

         16                 Council Member Dickens.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         18  much, Mr. Chair.

         19                 I just had one small question, and I

         20  want to acknowledge the work of Jim Caras and Rob

         21  Newman, for all their work, for answering all of the

         22  Council's questions and my 101 questions and

         23  demands. But there's one thing that worries me,

         24  that's about the database, the question about that.

         25  Because anyone in this room who has had anything,
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          2  any requests that they had to do to a City agency

          3  knows the convoluted, confused answers that you get

          4  where the records are lost, can't be found, they're

          5  incorrect, obsolete. Having said that, what is to

          6  make my colleagues feel that this database is going

          7  to be any better than any of the other City

          8  agencies' responses to questions that the citizens

          9  have where your records, because of Administration,

         10  and of course, the Campaign Finance Board's

         11  maintenance of it, what makes us think it's going to

         12  be any more accurate and current than any other City

         13  agency's records that usually is not, whether we're

         14  looking for a birth certificate, death certificate,

         15  or copies of legal records that you can't get?

         16                 MS. SIMPSON: Council member, the root

         17  data for what will comprise the "doing business"

         18  database comes from the City's Financial Management

         19  System, which is, quite frankly, our accounting

         20  books, and therefore, it's the same data that OMB

         21  relies on, the Comptroller relies on. Literally

         22  every time an agency makes a purchase, the system

         23  has to confirm that we have the money in the budget

         24  as appropriated and it's in the right account. It's

         25  an extraordinarily detailed financial database, and
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          2  it is accurate within a 24-hour window all the time.

          3  It pretty much has to be, otherwise we would be in

          4  violation of numerous state and local laws. It's the

          5  database by which we ascertain that we have the

          6  money to pay our bills. So, particularly since here,

          7  in order to know whether something belongs in the

          8  data, the "doing business" database or not, we don't

          9  really have to know that question down to the penny

         10  in most cases. We only need to know whether it's in

         11  a category that is covered, or its exempt, and we

         12  need to know whether it's over the dollar threshold,

         13  which in most cases is $100,000, or not. And that

         14  level of accuracy, I hope as a taxpayer, I can be

         15  confident that our financial system is definitely

         16  accurate within that broad parameter.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you so

         18  much for your answer. As a taxpayer, I wish that I

         19  had that kind of level of confidence. But thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Before we let you

         21  go I just want to add a few points that I think that

         22  were not mentioned. First of all, in terms of the

         23  system, there's a film that some of you may be aware

         24  of, Ocean 13, that just came out, if you're

         25  determined to beat the system, I don't think there
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          2  is any system that cannot be beaten. But the purpose

          3  of this legislation is to try to make things

          4  significantly better for candidates, you know, to

          5  keep us all honest. Candidates, people contributing,

          6  and so on and so forth, and government in general.

          7  And I think towards that, this is an extraordinary

          8  goal, that has been from its outset has been done I

          9  think in the best way possible, and that's with the

         10  months, really ongoing months of discussions, with

         11  everyone and anyone that has an interest in the

         12  legislation, to those that don't like the

         13  legislation, as well. So the final product takes a

         14  lot of that into consideration. I think that is very

         15  important when we think about it.

         16                 The point that Council Member Dickens

         17  mentioned about the reliability of the database,

         18  this bill isn't purely to destroy and hamper the

         19  candidacy of people who are trying to run for

         20  office. I would say just the opposite. It's supposed

         21  to make it easier, purer and much more clearer. So,

         22  that in the case, for example, with the database, if

         23  somebody looks at that database on June 13th or June

         24  12th and sees a list, that list at that date is what

         25  we will take as record. You will be able to download
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          2  that list, you will be able to say that on June

          3  12th, your database said that Felder and Company or

          4  Felder Partnership, or whatever it is that's

          5  excluded, did not exist, even if on June 13th they

          6  were listed, you will not be responsible or held

          7  liable in any way for taking a contribution. You did

          8  the best you could with the information you had.

          9                 So, I think that that is not a

         10  perfect system, but it's certainly good in that it

         11  says that as information is put forth, you are

         12  responsible or if you don't check the information,

         13  they can check back to that date, and you'll see

         14  whether it was on there or not. And I think that

         15  that will help a lot.

         16                 Council Member Dickens, do you have

         17  other questions?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you.

         19  Bear with me and I just wanted to, I was remiss

         20  because I didn't thank our attorney DeNora Johnson,

         21  for the hard work that she put in and the many

         22  hours, and late hours that she put in on working on

         23  this. And our Chair, because I'm concerned as to

         24  whether the Simcha Felder Shoe Company can give a

         25  donation or not.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Whether I can

          3  give you a donation?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: The Simcha

          5  Felder Shoe Company.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I'm not concerned

          7  at all. I want to give you a donation.

          8                 Any other questions? Seeing none, I

          9  thank you, Mr. Crowell, very much, and your

         10  colleagues for being here this morning.

         11                 MR. CROWELL: You're welcome.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Next we're going

         13  to hear from the Campaign Finance Board, Amy Loprest

         14  and Carole Campolo and Sue Ellen Dodell. I don't see

         15  her. Oh, she's sitting on the other side. For those

         16  that are standing, at a minimum, you can sit down

         17  until this panel finishes and then they'll come back

         18  to claim their seats, but in the meanwhile you can

         19  sit down for awhile, certainly.

         20                 Whenever you're ready. Identify

         21  yourself, and we'll move forward.

         22                 MS. LOPREST: Good morning, Chairman

         23  Felder, Committee Members. I'm Amy Loprest,

         24  Executive Director of the New York City Campaign

         25  Finance Board. With me are Deputy Executive Director
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          2  Carole Campolo, on my right, and General Counsel Sue

          3  Ellen Dodell, to my left. I'm here to testify on

          4  Intro. No. 586. I would like, first I would like to

          5  congratulate the City Council and the Mayor for

          6  reaching agreement on legislation that has the

          7  potential to transform the relationship between

          8  money and politics in New York City. We are pleased

          9  to have been able to inform these negotiations with

         10  the practical lessons of two decades successfully

         11  administering the program.

         12                 While it's true there are significant

         13  challenges ahead in implementing pay-to-play

         14  restrictions under consideration, the Board has

         15  always believed those limits should have the force

         16  of law if they're to be effective.

         17                 We are confident that with continued

         18  cooperation among the Campaign Finance Board, City

         19  Hall and the responsible agencies, the databases

         20  that the bill envisions will be created in a timely

         21  fashion and this reform will succeed.

         22                 Intro. No. 586 contains several other

         23  provisions that could help advance some of the

         24  program's underlying goals. One central aim of the

         25  program is to amplify the voice of small donors in
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          2  New York City's political system. Lowering the

          3  contribution amount eligible for matching funds from

          4  250 to 175 dollars should encourage candidates to

          5  focus even more attention on ordinary New Yorkers

          6  who lack the means to make large contributions to

          7  political campaigns.

          8                 The proposed ban on contribution from

          9  LLCs and partnerships is a positive step towards

         10  eliminating all organizational contributions as the

         11  Board has recommended since the creation of the

         12  program.

         13                 The new, more inclusive definition of

         14  intermediaries will help the Board provide New

         15  Yorkers with more complete disclosure of those

         16  interests funding campaigns for City office, and the

         17  provisions meant to limit the amount of matching

         18  funds provided to participating candidates with

         19  nominal opposition should provide taxpayers with

         20  greater protection against the waste of public

         21  resources.

         22                 As I'm sure you're aware, other parts

         23  of the bill, especially the proposed deadlines for

         24  CFB audits will require significant changes in the

         25  way the Board operates. We have already begun a
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          2  thorough evaluation of our audit procedures, which

          3  we will continue in conjunction with completing the

          4  last of the audits from the 2005 election cycle.

          5                 In order to enable the Campaign

          6  Finance Board to hold all candidates for covered

          7  offices to the highest standard of integrity, the

          8  law-makers who created the Board gave it a certain

          9  measure of independence from the political process.

         10  Subsequent City Councils have found it appropriate

         11  to respect the independence of the agency that

         12  regulates them in their roles as candidates as City

         13  office. Despite our reservations about any

         14  legislative intrusion into the Board's

         15  administration of the Campaign Finance Act, we are

         16  supporting Intro. 586 because we are confident we

         17  will be able to meet the Board's mandates without

         18  sacrificing the independence of the Board or the

         19  quality of our work.

         20                 We have communicated a statement of

         21  the Board's revised fiscal needs for Fiscal Year

         22  2008 to the Mayor and the Speaker of the City

         23  Council, and we will further assess staffing and

         24  funding levels for the years to come, in light of

         25  the bills requirements.
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          2                 We appreciate the Council's

          3  commitment to provide the resources the Board will

          4  need to meet these new mandates, while making it

          5  possible for the Board to protect the public's

          6  investment in the political process with the same

          7  diligence New York City taxpayers have come to

          8  expect, since the program was created almost 20

          9  years ago.

         10                 There are some outstanding technical

         11  issues with this legislation, which are working with

         12  Council staff to resolve. These include some

         13  recommended improvements to the debate program, and

         14  providing for bonus payments to candidates facing

         15  high-spending non-participants. I, too, would like

         16  to thank the Council staff who worked so hard on

         17  this legislation, Maura Keaney, Rob Newman, DeNora

         18  Johnson and Jim Caras, and the staff members from

         19  the Mayor's Office, Anthony Crowell, Frank Barry and

         20  Patrick Wehle. I'd like to thank you for the

         21  opportunity to testify, and I look forward to

         22  answering any questions you may have.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         24  much, and we thank you, obviously. You were included

         25  in my opening statement. All the parties. With the
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          2  budget you just mentioned about the requests for

          3  whatever more money you're going to be able to

          4  implement this, how much more money are you asking

          5  for?

          6                 MS. LOPREST: For Fiscal Year 2008, we

          7  have made a request for an additional $270,000.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: For $270,000,

          9  you're going to be able to, because it's an off-year

         10  sort of?

         11                 MS. LOPREST: It's just for this

         12  fiscal year because most of the provisions that take

         13  place in this fiscal year involve the doing business

         14  regulations.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: And then the

         16  following year what do you anticipate?

         17                 MS. LOPREST: We're looking into that,

         18  and we have to, when the bill is finalized and

         19  passed, we'll have to evaluate our future needs.

         20  Certainly it will require some additional staffing,

         21  particularly audit staff, as we've talked about in

         22  the past. Some legal staff, people to do additional

         23  training, and additional space to put those people

         24  in.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So, how much more
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          2  money is it going to be?

          3                 MS. LOPREST: We haven't worked out an

          4  exact number.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: About. You have

          6  no idea?

          7                 MS. LOPREST: Really, I don't have any

          8  idea.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay.

         10                 What did you want to say?

         11                 MS. CAMPOLO: I was going to say --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Could you please

         13  identify yourself.

         14                 MS. CAMPOLO: Carole Campolo. That's

         15  for the Fiscal 2009. So we will do an extensive

         16  evaluation of any of the fiscal impact needs that

         17  we're going to need.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: But you would

         19  have to hire these people way before. Right? You're

         20  not going to throw them into the fire, right? You

         21  have to train them and hire them early enough.

         22                 MS. CAMPOLO: Right. Fiscal 2009 will

         23  begin a year from now. So, if we had the money in

         24  that budget, ostensibly we'd be able to start hiring

         25  people July 1st, 2008.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So, back to this

          3  year. You anticipate being able to use $270,000?

          4  Because I know you don't want to ask for more money

          5  than you need. You believe that you'll be able to

          6  use that money?

          7                 MS. LOPREST: Yes. It's basically some

          8  additional staff, and some increase in our computer

          9  capacity and some additional training.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do you believe

         11  that the auditors you have are getting paid enough?

         12                 MS. LOPREST: We've done a thorough

         13  review and I think we've communicated with you that

         14  we've looked at the salary levels in other City

         15  agencies for audit staff and our audit salaries are

         16  commensurate with that funding.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Understood. Now,

         18  with this ongoing thing about certain years being

         19  very busy and certain years being extremely quiet,

         20  you know, how are you going to handle that in terms

         21  of your increasing your budget significantly for

         22  2009, that will require additional manpower, right?

         23  So, the computers, all of that, that hopefully

         24  doesn't go bad. But the other stuff, how are you

         25  going to operate this system, because you have, you
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          2  know, in a normal business, let's say June is

          3  wedding season, a caterer will have maybe students,

          4  others that are finished with their finals, they'll

          5  buy a temporary staff, hopefully do a good job. You

          6  can't afford to do that? How are you going to deal

          7  with this?

          8                 MS. LOPREST: What the Board has

          9  traditionally done is evaluate whether or not we

         10  could use seasonals to accomplish some of the

         11  staffing needs for the period of the election, and

         12  then downsize, you know, kept our permanent

         13  headcount relatively constant. That's one of the

         14  issues that we will have to evaluate, basically, you

         15  know, coming up with the timing of staff and making

         16  sure that people are on staff, being able to train

         17  and also being able to complete the jobs, and that's

         18  one of the things we will have to review.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay, I'm asking

         20  you a hodge-podge of questions. So, who audits the

         21  Campaign Finance Board at this time.

         22                 MS. LOPREST: The Comptroller's Office

         23  has the authority to audit the Campaign Finance

         24  Board.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do you feel that
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          2  it's appropriate for the Comptroller to audit the

          3  Campaign Finance Board since you have to give --

          4  hypothetically, let's say Simcha Felder was running

          5  for Comptroller, right? It wouldn't make sense,

          6  really, for -- and hypothetically, if he won the

          7  election, it wouldn't make sense really for him to

          8  audit you.

          9                 Do you have any comments about that?

         10                 MS. LOPREST: The Comptroller has in

         11  the past conducted audits of our contracting

         12  procedures, and we did hire an outside audit firm

         13  before the 2001 election to conduct a comprehensive

         14  audit of how we had administered the public fund.

         15  With the new provisions about GAGAs, you referred to

         16  them as "gagas," but one of the provisions would be

         17  that we would undergo peer review and so the Board

         18  would undertake a contract from an outside law firm

         19  to do that peer review.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: So, I'm

         21  highlighting that again, because that's very

         22  important to me, and I'm happy you mentioned that.

         23                 I think that the audits, unrelated to

         24  this legislation, sort of, you know, somewhat

         25  affected, that under the generally accepted
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          2  government auditing standards, which you will be

          3  applying, which is certainly a stricter, even more

          4  improved as it is now, which, you know, we have a

          5  lot of problems with you, candidates find your

          6  audits very strict now, but I think this is a good

          7  thing. I'm just mentioning I think it's important to

          8  follow up with that, nothing related to legislation,

          9  to make sure that whoever does the audit has nothing

         10  to do with getting money from you.

         11                 Council Member Dickens, you had a

         12  question?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Yes. Thank

         14  you so much.

         15                 Director Amy Loprest?

         16                 MS. LOPREST: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: I wanted to

         18  make sure I had it correct. And the Deputy, Carole

         19  Campolo, have either one of you or the General

         20  Counsel, is it Dodell?

         21                 MS. DODELL: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: How are you?

         23  Have any of you ever been a candidate?

         24                 MS. LOPREST: I've never been a

         25  candidate for elective office, no.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Have any of

          3  you been a campaign treasurer for a candidate?

          4                 MS. LOPREST: No.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Have any of

          6  you been a candidate fundraiser?

          7                 MS. LOPREST: No.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Intermediary

          9  or bundler?

         10                 MS. LOPREST: No.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you.

         13                 Back to the discussion that took

         14  place when the Administration was here about the

         15  non-competitive elections; how do you feel about

         16  that? And whether you should be involved, shouldn't

         17  be involved?

         18                 MS. LOPREST: I think the proposed

         19  legislation strikes a good balance between -- by

         20  giving it an objective monetary threshold, which

         21  existed in the current law, in addition to seven

         22  criterion by which a candidate could demonstrate

         23  that a person is a serious opponent without having

         24  the 20 percent financial level.

         25                 The Board, the candidates would be
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          2  required to provide evidence or documentation that

          3  they met one of these seven criteria when they

          4  submitted their letter and the Board would verify

          5  that evidence. We wouldn't be making a determination

          6  about whether a person was significant if these --

          7  just for example, one of the things is that you have

          8  received the endorsement of a Citywide/Statewide or

          9  a federal elected official, representing all or a

         10  portion of the area covered by your election, we

         11  would just verify that, you know, we sent this

         12  endorsement letter, yes, that person is an elected

         13  official, then you map that criteria. You know, that

         14  would be the Board's role in that, and the other

         15  side would be the financial criteria which would be

         16  judged based on the financial disclosure filed by

         17  your opponent.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do you think that

         19  the legislation helps or hurts incumbents?

         20                 MS. LOPREST: I mean, that's a very

         21  hard question.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: That's why I

         23  asked it.

         24                 MS. LOPREST: I think that political

         25  scientists would tell you that being an incumbent is
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          2  probably the single best predictor of winning an

          3  election. I really haven't, I don't have an answer

          4  to that question about whether this particular

          5  legislation has an effect one way or the other.

          6                 I would say the overall purpose of

          7  the program is to help people who are small

          8  grassroot candidates run for office when they

          9  otherwise would not be financially able to do that.

         10  And the increase in the matching fund from six to

         11  one to $175, does bolster that purpose of the

         12  program.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: You didn't ask

         14  me, because it's not your place, but I'll make

         15  believe you asked me what's your opinion, Chair? And

         16  I'm telling you that I think that it puts incumbents

         17  at a greater disadvantage than they had before.

         18  Incumbency as a rule is a great benefit. If you

         19  asked an incumbent, elected officials whether they

         20  liked the new legislation or they prefer to have it

         21  the old way, I think most would say we liked it the

         22  way it was a lot better. And the reason I raise that

         23  is not to make myself or my colleagues look bad, but

         24  rather to compliment my colleagues, not myself but

         25  compliment my colleagues for their courage to be a
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          2  part of this legislation, that in essence diminishes

          3  the advantage that incumbents have and it makes it,

          4  you know, it creates a much greater, you know, a

          5  level playing field for everyone.

          6                 So, since you didn't say that, I'm

          7  saying that, and I think that's to be true.

          8                 One last thing I just wanted to

          9  mention is the issue with regard to candidates

         10  complaining about not being able to get answers

         11  quickly, on issues, you know, especially during

         12  season, you know, you've worked out together with

         13  the Administration some sort of process where they

         14  can send you a question of some sort. Can you

         15  elaborate on that?

         16                 MS. LOPREST: I believe that was your

         17  suggestion, Council Member Felder.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Well, that's

         19  again why I asked you.

         20                 MS. LOPREST: That the candidates will

         21  be able to, as it could now, but if it's in the

         22  legislation, if the candidates have a conversation

         23  with the unit that we have set up that deals with

         24  answering the questions from the candidates, they

         25  can talk to our candidates services liaison, and

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  after the conversation, confirm what their

          3  understanding through an e-mail or writing or some

          4  other type of writing facts or whatever. And the

          5  staff would have seven days to say, no, that's not

          6  what we told you, or it's a misunderstanding, or

          7  else the candidate could take that written advice

          8  and rely on it about any detriment to them.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: And finally,

         10  would you say without any exception that this

         11  Campaign Finance Reform is clearly the best in the

         12  country after it passes? I mean the strictest in the

         13  country? Is that true or not?

         14                 MS. LOPREST: I think this program

         15  right now is the best in the country, the Campaign

         16  Finance Program, and I think that this makes

         17  improvements to that program.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: You mean we were

         19  the best already.

         20                 MS. LOPREST: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay, but now

         22  we're going to be super, the best-est, right? Okay,

         23  I want to thank you. We're taking exactly a

         24  two-minute break and at 11:30 on this clock we will

         25  continue.
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          2                 And let me just ask the next -- thank

          3  you very much for coming. I ask the next panel,

          4  Ciara Torres-Spelliscy, Neal Rosenstein from NYPIRG,

          5  Douglas Israel from Citizens Union, and Megan

          6  Quattlebaum.

          7                 We originally had four on this panel,

          8  but since you're six people, you know, we made it

          9  even three and three. So, I don't know who we

         10  excluded, but it was randomly, whoever was the

         11  fourth person that's not there. I'm ready whenever

         12  you are. Just identify yourself, and you can decide

         13  on your own which ever one wants to speak first.

         14                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: Good morning. My name

         15  is Neal Rosenstein, I'm Government Reform

         16  Coordinator for NYPIRG. We support Intro. 586, and

         17  we encourage its enactment.

         18                 We believe this legislation will

         19  strengthen the City's Campaign Finance Program,

         20  among its many improvements, putting the cap of $250

         21  to $400 on contributions to any City candidate by a

         22  broad range of individuals doing business and

         23  seeking favors from the City, whether in the program

         24  or out, making those contributions unmatcheable,

         25  broadening the definition of intermediaries to
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          2  include not only those delivering contributions, but

          3  those soliciting them, providing an incentive for

          4  taking smaller matches, as was mentioned previously,

          5  and prohibiting contributions from LLCs and LLPs.

          6                 I'd like to make three points about

          7  the legislation. First, we greatly appreciate the

          8  outreach by the City and the Council in formulating

          9  this legislation. We feel our suggestions were

         10  seriously considered and a number incorporated into

         11  the bill.

         12                 We'd like to thank Maura Keaney, Rob

         13  Newman, DeNora Johnson, Jim Caras on the Council

         14  staff, Anthony Crowell, Frank Barry and Patrick

         15  Wehle, who negotiated the bill for the City

         16  Administration.

         17                 We would also like to express our

         18  special appreciation to Committee Chair Simcha

         19  Felder. You've continued 19 years of tradition by

         20  your predecessors, all of who strengthened the

         21  Campaign Finance Program through their leadership

         22  and political savvy.

         23                 Second, this legislation calls for

         24  certifying complete and accurate databases of

         25  individuals with applicants or bids for contracts
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          2  above $100,000, City Land Use, those doing business

          3  with the City. This will be very challenging, as our

          4  experience with the smaller lobbyist database has

          5  already shown.

          6                 We feel any certification date that

          7  goes into the '08/'09 election cycle would be

          8  unfair, and we would support postponing database use

          9  until after the election as the legislation mandates

         10  if things drag out.

         11                 NYPIRG is counting on the City and

         12  Council to provide both the Campaign Finance Board

         13  and DoITT with the financial resources they need to

         14  achieve these mandates in a timely manner.

         15                 Third, if the legislation is struck

         16  down by the courts for candidates not participating

         17  in the Campaign Finance Program, we support not

         18  applying those restrictions to candidates who are

         19  participants in the program. That's because if only

         20  participants were limited in taking "doing business"

         21  contributions, this would seriously discourage

         22  candidates from entering the program all together.

         23                 On a final note, the City's Campaign

         24  Finance Program has been improved after each

         25  election cycle. NYPIRG will continue to urge for
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          2  improvements in the future.

          3                 These include lowering overall

          4  contribution limits, further restrictions on the

          5  source of contributions, and addressing the problem

          6  of wealthy candidates who are able to self-finance

          7  their own campaigns and dramatically outspending

          8  opponents.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         11  much. I just want to mention that Corinne Rivers --

         12  is she here? Can she stand up? Where is she? Can she

         13  stand up, please. I want to thank you. She wasn't

         14  here earlier. She's one of some interns that work

         15  with the Government Affairs Division.

         16                 Next speaker.

         17                 MR. ISRAEL: Good afternoon, Mr.

         18  Chairman, members of the Governmental Operations

         19  Committee. I am Doug Israel, Director of Public

         20  Policy and Advocacy for Citizens Union, a century

         21  old good government organization committed to

         22  ensuring fair and competitive elections.

         23                 CU has actively supported the

         24  enactment of legislation aimed at reducing the

         25  reality and appearance of pay-to-play whereby large
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          2  contributors to candidates either gain or suffer

          3  from the perception of special access and influence

          4  over the political process.

          5                 We are pleased that the City has

          6  moved one step closer to making this a reality.

          7                 In addition to our support of pay to

          8  play legislation, Citizens Union has consistently

          9  advocated for changes to the City's Campaign Finance

         10  Program to ensure its relevance and effectiveness by

         11  adapting to changing times and making it more

         12  appealing and easier for candidates to participate

         13  and comply with the programs requirements.

         14                 Introduction 586 strengthens the

         15  City's model campaign finance program in all these

         16  ways. While there will always be ways that the City

         17  can improve the program, Citizens Union strongly

         18  supports the introduced legislation, and commends

         19  the Committee on Governmental Operations, the Mayor,

         20  the Speaker and the Campaign Finance Board, and

         21  their respective staffs for their collective

         22  abilities and leadership in reaching a vitally

         23  important agreement on how best to improve a program

         24  that has been essential to supporting viable

         25  candidates and ensuring clean campaigns and
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          2  providing more competitive elections in the City.

          3                 Specifically I'd like to thank

          4  Chairman Felder, Speaker Quinn, Deputy Chief of

          5  Staff Maura Keaney, Legislative Director Rob Newman,

          6  Deputy Counsel Jim Caras and Committee Counsel

          7  DeNora Johnson for all of your hard and thoughtful

          8  work on this issue.

          9                 On the second side of my testimony

         10  I've listed eight elements that Citizens Union

         11  supports in this bill, and as Neal Rosenstein

         12  mentioned, a lot of them are here on paper, I will

         13  not go through a lot of them individually, but you

         14  know that you have our full support of Intro. 586.

         15  I'm just going to conclude with the final here. We

         16  are pleased that the Council, in crafting

         17  improvements to the administration of the program

         18  and enforcement of the law consulted with the

         19  Campaign Finance Board to ensure that their

         20  authority and prerogative were respected and

         21  maintained, and therefore we support the

         22  administrative changes that have been proposed.

         23                 While we offer our strong support for

         24  the bill, there are several issues that may require

         25  us to provide continued review and thought to ensure
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          2  the program's ongoing success.

          3                 The City needs to monitor closely the

          4  impact of the new caps on pay-to-play contributions,

          5  to ensure that it does not result in unintended

          6  consequences of unwittingly denying worthy

          7  candidates, particularly those for Borough and

          8  Citywide offices, enough legitimate dollars from

          9  civic-minded individuals who also do business with

         10  the City.

         11                 Additionally, as the City moves to

         12  limit further institutional contributions in the

         13  form of LLCs, the City needs to ensure that an even

         14  hand is being applied and review other institutional

         15  contributions like those from unions. While there

         16  may be compelling and supportable reasons for union

         17  contributions to be handled differently from other

         18  contributions, the City should engage in a public

         19  discussion of the pros and cons of that issue. And,

         20  finally, while we recognize this bill is not the

         21  place to tackle this issue, the Campaign Finance

         22  Program is challenged with finding a way to address

         23  the disparity that exists for candidates

         24  participating in the program who face a well-funded

         25  or self-funded opponent. This has been an issue in
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          2  past Mayoral races and will most likely be so in the

          3  future. The Campaign Finance Board has proposed

          4  several smart measures in the past, and hearings

          5  should be held on this topic to address the issue

          6  moving forward.

          7                 Again, thank you for this

          8  opportunity, and we would like to offer our support

          9  for Intro. 586. Thank you.

         10                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Good morning. I am

         11  Megan Quattlebaum, the Associate Director of Common

         12  Cause/New York. We want to thank, first of all,

         13  Chairman Felder, and the members of the Governmental

         14  Operations Committee for giving us the opportunity

         15  to present testimony here today.

         16                 In sum, we support Intro. 586 and we

         17  urge its enactment by the Council. We want to echo

         18  our colleagues' appreciation of the consideration

         19  that Council and Mayoral staff gave to input

         20  provided by Common Cause New York and other Civic

         21  Groups for our public testimony on the issue of

         22  doing business, and when asked for our opinions or

         23  suggestions on the legislation.

         24                 In particular, I want to again echo

         25  the thanks given to Maura Keaney, Rob Newman, DeNora
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          2  Johnson and Jim Caras, Counsel, as well as Anthony

          3  Crowell, Frank Barry and Patrick Wehle at the City

          4  Administration.

          5                 And we want to again offer special

          6  thanks to Chairman Felder of this Committee for his

          7  leadership on this issue. I echo the sentiments that

          8  the Council Member raised, that it is hard for

          9  sitting law makers to pass reforms that affect their

         10  own ability to run campaigns, that's a very

         11  difficult thing to ask sitting law makers to do, and

         12  we appreciate the courage and the leadership and the

         13  forward thinking that it requires.

         14                 We want to also highlight some of

         15  the, we think most positive aspects of this intro,

         16  which we again generally support. We support the new

         17  pay-to-play reforms, the broadened definition of

         18  intermediary, the new 6-1 match for contributions of

         19  $175 or less, the prohibition on contributions from

         20  LLCs, et cetera.

         21                 I want to again echo the fact that we

         22  believe that should this law ever be struck down as

         23  it applies to candidates not participating in the

         24  City's public financing program, we believe that it

         25  should also not be applied to participants, and on a
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          2  second technical note, we want to emphasize that we

          3  appreciate the fact that an effort is being made to

          4  set a date by which the databases must be certified

          5  if the legislation is to go into effect for the 2009

          6  elections. We support that effort because we feel

          7  that it is unfair to have rules change in mid-stream

          8  or in the height of an election season.

          9                 We don't disagree with any aspect of

         10  Intro. 586, however, there are two issues that we

         11  hope were kept on the table for future

         12  consideration, one is continued lowering of

         13  contribution limits across the board, and the second

         14  is a ban which we have long supported on our

         15  organization contributions. But in sum, we support

         16  this legislation and hope those issues will be kept

         17  on the table for the future.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         19  much. I'll just ask a general question. I know that

         20  the good government groups and people who work for

         21  you are in fact very sincere about what you do, but

         22  there are no restrictions on good government groups,

         23  in terms of your contributions for candidates; is

         24  that true?

         25                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: Probably all
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          2  registered lobbyists.

          3                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Lobbyists.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Right, that's a

          5  good point.

          6                 MR. ISRAEL: And as such there are

          7  other limitations.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I just wanted to

          9  make sure that you were included.

         10                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: No, well, for me it's

         11  great for 20 years, NYPIRG, because we work on

         12  government election issues, we have a great excuse

         13  when candidates ask us for money, we say, oh, no, we

         14  can't show favoritisms. There may not be a legal

         15  one, but we create one.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do you get any

         17  money from the City?

         18                 MR. ROSENSTEIN: We do not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: What about you?

         20                 MR. ISRAEL: No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: What about you?

         22                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: No.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Very good. Thank

         24  you very, very much for being here.

         25                 And the last panel we have is Dan
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          2  Jacoby. I'm going to try to read this. Can you help

          3  me, Merle? This is not a common Jewish name. How do

          4  you pronounce this? You live in Borough Park, right?

          5                 MS. McELDOWNEY: No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: And, finally,

          7  Ciara Torres-Spelliscy, was that right? Okay, Ciara,

          8  I'm sorry.

          9                 Okay, ready when you are. Who is

         10  first? And if you have prepared testimony, copies of

         11  it, if you can give it to the -- did you give it to

         12  the Sergeant-At-Arms? Thank you very much. We're

         13  ready.

         14                 MR. JACOBY: Hi. My name is Dan

         15  Jacoby. I'm with Democracy for New York City. Intro.

         16  586 tries to correct many flaws in the current

         17  campaign finance system. These corrections look good

         18  on paper, but they are based on a fundamentally

         19  flawed concept that the system itself is a good one.

         20                 Campaign spending continues to rise

         21  at an enormous rate, and in the few cases where the

         22  largest fundraiser does not win, matching funds are

         23  not the reason why. The system fails to limit

         24  spending, and it fails to level the playing field.

         25                 I have attached a section-by-section
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          2  analysis of the bill, and have highlighted those

          3  components that don't work. I will briefly mention

          4  two major items.

          5                 1) Trying to limit contributions from

          6  people doing business with the City has three

          7  problems. First, there are several loopholes.

          8  Second, City contractors will still find ways to

          9  funnel money to the candidates of their choice. I've

         10  already thought of several possibilities. And third,

         11  this creates a new bureaucracy with more headaches

         12  and compliance costs for candidates. As a result,

         13  those who can raise more money will gain a further

         14  advantage.

         15                 2) The changes to the matching fund

         16  ratio, combined with lower caps, also look good on

         17  paper. But candidates will still go after large

         18  contributions, and those donors will still be the

         19  most valued, both before and after the election. In

         20  addition, the 55 percent matching fund ceiling

         21  ensures that candidates will still need to raise

         22  ever larger amounts of money in order to compete.

         23                 This bill was crafted by serious,

         24  intelligent and thoughtful people who are,

         25  unfortunately, too invested in the current paradigm
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          2  to be effective. This bill will not make a

          3  significant difference, and in some ways will be a

          4  step backward. Think McKane Feingold.

          5                 The real solution lies not in this

          6  system, but in a clean money, clean election system

          7  of full public funding. It is working now in Maine

          8  and Arizona and starting up in Connecticut. It is

          9  the system Governor Spitzer said should be the

         10  ultimate goal of campaign finance reform. A clean

         11  money bill will soon be introduced into the City

         12  Council. I urge you to pass it. Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Excuse me. You

         14  said you enclosed testimony from somebody who was

         15  not here?

         16                 MR. JACOBY: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Do we have that?

         18  Okay, thank you very much.

         19                 MS. McELDOWNEY: Hello. My name is

         20  Merle McEldowney. Most voters believe that the

         21  influence of money on politicians keeps us from

         22  having a decent health insurance program, fairer

         23  rent laws, an effective Landmarks Commission, and

         24  development that cares about the needs of the people

         25  who live in New York's neighborhoods, instead of the
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          2  needs of developers.

          3                 Twenty years ago, the City Council

          4  attempted to solve this problem, with what was haled

          5  as a model Campaign Finance Law. It's turned out to

          6  be flawed, complicated and bureaucratic. It hasn't

          7  lowered the influence of big contributors. It is

          8  difficult to administer and time consuming. It's so

          9  complicated that it regularly keeps people from

         10  running for office.

         11                 The proposed fix to this law,

         12  however, is merely a series of new rules, new

         13  reporting requirements, and new complications. It

         14  doesn't prevent lobbyists or contractors from

         15  fundraising, it doesn't prevent bundling, and it

         16  does not simplify reporting procedures, it's just

         17  making them more complicated.

         18                 There's a better system. A full

         19  public funding system known as "Clean Money, Clean

         20  Elections." My thought is that you've probably heard

         21  about it before, as Mr. Jacoby just mentioned, that

         22  it exists in other places in this country.

         23                 There's arguments against a full

         24  public funding system for elections. One is that

         25  it's too expensive. But how much money are we going
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          2  to be spending on matching funds?

          3                 How much money is spent when you add

          4  the cost of compliance, your new computer system and

          5  the bureaucrats to enforce this? And bottom line,

          6  how much money is spent in the end in giving big

          7  donors and fund raisers special breaks in budget

          8  line items?

          9                 The other purely political argument

         10  against a full public funding system for elections

         11  is that it can't be enacted. It's said that it can't

         12  be enacted by people who are elected under the old

         13  system. I believe that most City Council people know

         14  that this would be a better system. I believe that

         15  most City Council people, when they first ran for

         16  public office, would have loved a system of public

         17  financing. I believe that it could work in New York

         18  City. And I believe that it's up to the City Council

         19  to take some brave steps. Creating new rules to make

         20  a complicated system even more complicated is not a

         21  fix that we all know. It is a fundamental problem.

         22  Candidates should not be raising money.

         23                 My real question is why is the full

         24  public funding system not even debated by the City

         25  Council? Why are we still putting cosmetic patches
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          2  on a system that you know does not work? I don't

          3  understand it. Joe Bruno does not live in New York

          4  City. It would seem to me that we could have a real

          5  debate about real public financing in New York City.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MS. TORRES-SPELLISCY: Good morning.

          8  My name is Ciara Torres-Spelliscy. I'm an attorney

          9  at the Brennan Center for Justice at NYU School of

         10  Law. I work in the democracy program on Campaign

         11  Finance. I wanted to thank you for your leadership

         12  in public financing. I will focus my remarks on the

         13  pay-to-play restrictions, in Intro. 586. One, as

         14  presently drafted, the bill provides low limits for

         15  lobbyists and City contractors who give to

         16  participating candidates, and this is a good first

         17  step in getting special interests money out of the

         18  City elections. But I encourage you to expand these

         19  lower limits to all candidates, whether

         20  participating or non-participating. And, two, the

         21  Campaign Finance Board is barred from matching

         22  contributions that come from lobbyists and state

         23  contractors. This is a sound way to protect the

         24  public fisc, as well as to reduce the influence of

         25  special interests. The Supreme Court has yet to rule
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          2  on pay-to-play, but the court has been supportive of

          3  public financing as a way to prevent corruption, and

          4  the appearance of corruption, and the support is

          5  also supportive of contribution limits, so long as

          6  they are no so low that a challenger could not mount

          7  a meaningful challenge to an incumbent.

          8                 Lower courts have held that narrow

          9  pay-to-play regulations are constitutional, and that

         10  broader bands are either constitutional or

         11  unconstitutional based on the facts of the case.

         12  Here you are likely to be on the constitutional side

         13  for two reasons: One, you're not instituting a ban,

         14  which puts you in good stead, and even if you did

         15  put in a total ban on, for instance, lobbyist

         16  contributions during a legislative session, those

         17  have been upheld as constitutional. And, two, being

         18  part of a public financing system gives you more

         19  leeway and latitude to design a system that's

         20  functional. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Thank you very

         22  much for being here.

         23                 I just want to comment that in your

         24  testimony on page three, the fourth paragraph

         25  towards the end, you say "We encourage the Council
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          2  to consider those lower limits for lobbyists and

          3  City contractors to all candidates not just

          4  participating candidates to reduce the influence of

          5  special interests in the City." I think that that

          6  applies. I think that that applies now.

          7                 MS. TORRES-SPELLISCY: I would

          8  double-check your drafting, because, you know, the

          9  way I read it, it looked like it says participating,

         10  and not --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay. DeNora

         12  Johnson, the legal counsel.

         13                 MS. JOHNSON: I would just point out I

         14  guess, and I can get the exact section for you off

         15  the record, there are references that the sections

         16  that apply to the non-participants, which are

         17  Section 3719 of the Act, reference back to the

         18  "doing business" restrictions to apply to

         19  non-participants as well.

         20                 MS. TORRES-SPELLISCY: Very good.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: I thank everybody

         22  for being here today. And with that, the hearing is

         23  closed.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 11:55 a.m.)
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